71292-6

71292-6

NO. 71292-6-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

IN RE THE DETENTION OF:

MARK BLACK

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. INTRODUCTION.

...

:

The State sought to indefinitely commit Mark Black at a trial marred by errors. The court conducted jury selection in his absence and over his objection when he was inadvertently not brought to court. After a *Frye* hearing, the court ruled that the scientific community had not accepted the methodology or premise of the diagnosis of "hebephilia" as a basis to commit Mr. Black but then said these same scientific failings did not apply if the psychologist called the diagnosis a different name. The State's evaluator was unable to articulate a reason why Mr. Black has serious difficulty controlling his behavior caused by a certain mental abnormality or personality disorder, a critical element of commitment. These errors undermine the verdict.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

 The court violated Mr. Black's right to be present during jury selection, contrary to the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, sections 3 and 21.

2. The court improperly admitted as expert opinion testimony that Mr. Black suffered from "paraphilia not otherwise specified, persistent sexual interest in pubescent females," even though it is not a generally accepted diagnosis in the relevant scientific community.

3. The court deprived Mr. Black of his ability to meaningfully challenge the State's allegations by ruling that the scientific controversy surrounding the validity and reliability of hebephilia did not extend to paraphilia not otherwise specified, persistent sexual interest in pubescent females.

• •

4. The court erroneously entered unnumbered Findings of Fact that distinguished "hebephilia" from "paraphilia not otherwise specified, persistent sexual interest in pubescent females," and found this purported paraphilia is based on commonly accepted science. CP 1413.

5. The State did not prove and the jury did not unanimously find Mr. Black had a mental abnormality or personality disorder causing him serious difficulty controlling his sexually offending behavior.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. A person facing involuntary confinement has the right to be present during jury selection so he may personally test the fitness of the jurors. When the jail failed to bring Mr. Black to court for jury selection, the court continued meeting with prospective jurors about their fitness to serve and excused numerous jurors from the case even though Mr. Black's lawyers told the court he did not waive his

presence. Did the court allow significant portions of jury selection to occur in Mr. Black's absence in violation of his right to be present?

• •

1

2. Novel scientific evidence is inadmissible when it is not generally accepted in the relevant scientific community. The court ruled that "hebephilia" is an inadmissible diagnosis because it is not generally accepted in the scientific community, but it admitted a diagnosis premised on the same scientific evidence when given a different name. Did the court improperly use the guise of a different name to admit scientific evidence that was inadmissible due to its lack of general acceptance in the relevant scientific community?

3. A person facing civil commitment has the right to meaningfully challenge the evidence against him. The court ruled that "hebephilia" is a different diagnosis from "paraphilia not otherwise specified, persistent sexual interest in pubescent females," and barred Mr. Black from using the scientific controversy surrounding "hebephilia" to cast doubt on the State's case. Did the court deny Mr. Black his ability to meaningfully contest the State evaluator's diagnosis?

4. When the State presents alternative means that could independently meet the criteria for commitment but the jury's verdict

does not explain the means on which it agreed, each alternative must be supported by sufficient evidence. The State claimed Mr. Black had two distinct mental abnormalities and a personality disorder. It did not present sufficient evidence for the jury to rationally conclude that any disorder caused him serious difficulty controlling his behavior. Does the inadequate evidence of an essential element of commitment undermine the verdict?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

. .

:

While in prison, Mark Black completed the lengthy and intensive sex offender treatment program at the Twin Rivers Correctional Center. 7RP 740-41; 10RP 1194, 1196.¹ Although initially reluctant to participate, he became deeply engaged in the treatment program, actively participated, developed close ties with others in the program, and relied on the group collaborative approach to change his behavior. 7RP 772-75; 10RP 1205, 1249; 11RP 1302, 1316, 1327, 1360. However, before he finished serving his sentence, the State filed a petition to commit him indefinitely under RCW ch. 71.09. CP 1-2.

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings (RP) of the trial proceedings are referred to by the volume number assigned to the consecutively paginated transcripts. All other transcripts are referred to by the date of the proceeding.

Before Mr. Black's jury trial, the court held a $Frve^2$ hearing on the admissibility of "hebephilia" as a psychological condition premised on allegedly deviant sexual attraction to pubescent or post-pubescent minors. Psychologist Karen Franklin testified that hebephilia is a novel and controversial disorder. 9/13/13RP 39-40. She described the debate among psychologists and psychiatrists who, as a scientific community, excluded hebephilia from the DSM-V.³ 9/13/13RP 56-57, 60, 71-72. It was excluded because the only study of its validity had never been replicated and used faulty methodology. Id. at 60. It was also excluded because paraphilias involve deviant sexual interests, but it is common for adults to find young teenagers sexually attractive. Id. at 62, 93, 98. In some places, it remains common for a girl to marry at 13 years old. Id. at 68. Dr. Franklin explained that the scientific community has questioned both the methods used by those who believe hebephilia should be a recognized psychological condition and the theory that sexual attraction to young teenagers is a sexually deviant disorder. Id. at 74.

• •

² Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013, 1014 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

³ Am. Psychiatric Ass'n, *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (5th ed.2013).

Based on Dr. Franklin's testimony and lengthy documentation filed by both parties, the superior court ruled that hebephilia is not an admissible psychological diagnosis because it is not generally accepted in the relevant scientific community. CP 1412-13. However, the court ruled that hebephilia is different from paraphilia NOS, persistent sexual interest in pubescent females, with which the State's evaluator Dr. Arnold diagnosed Mr. Black. CP 1413. Dr. Arnold said his diagnosis was premised on the same science as that underlying hebephilia and he admitted he created this label to describe Mr. Black's mental status because hebephilia is not in the DSM-V. CP 839, 841-43; 9RP 944-45.

. .

•

At the start of his jury trial, Mr. Black waived his right to be present for the first day of jury selection. 10/21/13RP 4. He requested to be brought to court to participate in the rest of jury selection and the trial, but the jail did not bring him to court due to an administrative oversight. 2RP 11-12. Even though his lawyers objected, the court continued with jury selection in Mr. Black's absence. 10/22/13RP 3-89. The judge individually questioned multiple jurors and dismissed 11 that day before adjourning so that Mr. Black could be present for the remainder or jury selection. 10/22/13RP 5-8, 22, 26-32, 34-43, 49-50, 61-69, 77.

During the trial, the jury heard conflicting accounts of whether Mr. Black had a mental abnormality or personality disorder causing him serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior. Dr. Joseph Plaud testified that Mr. Black did not have a psychological condition meeting the criteria for commitment. 9RP 932-33, 838. He believed that while Mr. Black committed illegal acts and made bad choices, he did not display the necessary underlying sexual deviance required for a mental abnormality or personality disorder. 9RP 946, 951, 969-70.

•

•

Mr. Black committed sex offenses resulting in criminal convictions during two time periods. In the fall of 1995, he had nonforcible intercourse with a 13-year-old, Heather Paul, who was 5'8" and well-developed for her age, and sexual contact with a 14-year-old girl, Valerie Foster, who lied about her age. 4RP 212, 215, 219, 246, 249, 251, 257-58. Mr. Black was convicted and sentenced to prison. In the spring of 2003, he touched the chests of two girls, the 13-year-old daughter of his girlfriend and her friend. 6RP 682, 7RP 799, 801. He was convicted of two counts of child molestation and one count of attempted child molestation for these incidents. After serving his prison

sentence, the State filed a petition for civil commitment and he has not been released from confinement since his 2003 arrest.

• •

:

The State's evaluator Dr. Arnold claimed Mr. Black had the mental abnormalities sexual sadism⁴ and paraphilia not otherwise specified (persistent sexual interest in pubescent females), and personality disorder not otherwise specified (antisocial and narcissistic traits). 5RP 382. He said these disorders independently caused Mr. Black the inability to control his commission of sex offenses because he went to prison for such conduct yet committed another offense after his release. 5RP 445-46. It was undisputed that Mr. Black did not have pedophilia, which involves prepubescent children. 10/17/13RP 38; DSM-V at 697.

Mr. Black contended the knowledge he gained through sex offender treatment, along with three years of close monitoring by the Department of Corrections under threat of penal sanctions and his plans to live in a strictly run housing program would ensure community safety if released, but the jury found he met the criteria for commitment. 10 RP 1151-52, 1161; CP 1411.

E. ARGUMENT.

• •

:

- 1. The court denied Mr. Black his right to be present at trial and participate in a critical stage of proceedings.
 - a. *Mr. Black had the right to be present during jury selection.*

Jury selection has long been recognized as a critical stage in any proceeding. *Gomez v. United States*, 490 U.S. 858, 873, 109 S.Ct. 2237, 104 L.Ed.2d 923 (1989). Choosing a jury "is the primary means by which [to] enforce a defendant's right to be tried by a jury free from ethnic, racial, or political prejudice, or predisposition about the defendant's culpability." *Id.* (internal citations omitted). An accused person must be given the opportunity to tender advice or make suggestions to his or her lawyer when assessing potential jurors. *United States v. Gordon*, 829 F.3d 119, 124 (D.C. Cir. 1987). This right is particularly important when a person's "life or liberty may depend upon the aid which, by his personal presence, he may give to counsel and to the court and triers, in the selection of jurors." *Lewis v. United States*, 146 U.S. 370, 373, 13 S.Ct. 136, 36 L.Ed. 1011 (1892).

⁴ Mr. Black was never charged or convicted for any acts on which this diagnosis was based. The diagnosis is discussed in more detail in argument section 3(b)(i).

Because an indefinite commitment trial involves a substantial deprivation of liberty, it incorporates stricter protocols from criminal cases. Similar to a criminal case, the prosecuting agency bears the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, the jury must unanimously agree to each essential element of commitment, and the person facing commitment has the right to court-appointed counsel if indigent. *See In re Detention of Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 48, 857 P.2d 396 (1993) (statutory scheme shows Legislature's "acute awareness of the need for heightened procedural protections in these proceedings"); *In re Detention of Halgren*, 156 Wn.2d 795, 809, 132 P.2d 714 (2006) (same "constitutionally prescribed unanimity requirement" as criminal cases); RCW 71.09.050 (granting rights to attorney, expert witnesses, and 12-person jury for RCW 71.09 trials); RCW 71.09.060 (burden of proving essential elements of commitment on State beyond a reasonable doubt).

..

•

The Fourteenth Amendment's due process clause provides litigants the "right to be present at a proceeding 'whenever [their] presence has a relation, reasonably substantial, to the fullness of [their] opportunity to defend against the charge." *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 881, 246 P.3d 796 (2011) (quoting *Snyder v. Massachusetts*, 291

U.S. 97, 105–06, 54 S.Ct. 330, 78 L.Ed. 674 (1934)); U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. I, § 3.

• •

•

Additionally, article I, section 21 broadly protects the right to trial by jury in criminal and civil cases. *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 655, 771 P.2d 711 (1989). This right "carries with it the privilege to be present at the selection of the jury." *Harrington v. Decker*, 134 Vt. 259, 261, 356 A.2d 511, 512 (1976) (finding right to be present during jury selection in civil case based on state and federal constitutions); *see also Rozbicki v. Huybrechts*, 22 Conn.App. 131, 134-35, 576 A.2d 178, 179-80 (1990), *aff'd*, 218 Conn. 386, 589 A.2d 363 (1991) (right to be present during jury selection "applies with equal force to civil cases" because it is "equally important that a party be at his attorney's elbow during examination of prospective jurors").

In *Irby*, the attorneys and judge discussed the qualifications of several potential jurors in an email exchange occurring outside the defendant's presence and without him waiving his right to be present. 170 Wn.2d at 877-78. The judge and lawyers agreed to dismiss seven prospective jurors: four had been dismissed by the court administrator, two had scheduling concerns, and one appeared biased due to personal experiences based on questionnaire answers. *Id.* at 878. The Supreme

Court held that defendants have a right to be present when testing jurors' "fitness to serve as jurors in this particular case." *Id.* at 882. By discussing and dismissing potential jurors for substantive reasons without including Mr. Irby, he was denied his right to participate in a critical stage of the proceedings even though his lawyers participated in the selection process without objection. *Id.* at 883-84. A similar error occurred in the case at bar.

..

•

b. The court held jury selection in Mr. Black's absence even though he requested to be present.

Mr. Black was not brought to the courtroom for the second day of jury selection because the jail had not retained enough staff and refused to bring him. 2RP 11-12. At the start of that day's proceedings, Mr. Black's attorney informed the court that Mr. Black was not present and, although he had earlier waived his presence for the first day of jury selection, he had not "waived his presence from this point forward." CP 1430.

The court continued with jury selection despite Mr. Black's absence by individually questioning and dismissing jurors while waiting for the jail to provide more information about its failure to bring Mr. Black to court. *Id.* Mr. Black's attorney moved to recess the

proceedings until Mr. Black was brought to court but the court reserved ruling on this request. *Id.* The judge pressed Mr. Black's attorneys to waive his presence but his lawyers refused, explaining that Mr. Black "did not feel comfortable waiving" his presence and "it would be better for the jury to see him at some point before it's actually picked." 10/22/13RP 51. They also told the court, "It's important that he give input to our selection of the jury." *Id.* at 52.

• •

:

After additional discussion, the judge told the jury panel that they were "not able to proceed" as she "had hoped and as everyone had expected." 10/22/13RP 60. The reason for the delay was that there are "some parts of our system which have not responded in the way I had expected." *Id*. She told the jurors that the delay was not the fault of "the people in the room" *Id*. at 60-61. Despite dismissing the majority of prospective jurors, the court continued individual voir dire, questioning four potential jurors and removing one for bias and two due to limited language skills. CP 1430; 10/22/13RP 64-89.

Mr. Black was brought to court the following day where he participated in the final day of jury selection. 10/23/13RP 3.

Mr. Black had the right to be present when the work of empanelling the jury began. *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 882. He did not waive

his right to be present during the process of jury selection on October 22, 2014. 10/22/13RP 51-52. By individually questioning and dismissing multiple jurors without Mr. Black's presence and despite his request to be present, the court violated his right to attend and participate in jury selection. *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 882. "[C]onducting jury selection in [Mr. Black's] absence was a violation of his right under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution to be present at this critical stage of trial." *Id.* at 884.

• •

•

c. Denying Mr. Black his right to be present for jury selection prejudiced his ability to participate in choosing jurors.

A violation of a person's right to be present is a constitutional error; "the burden of proving harmlessness is on the State and it must do so beyond a reasonable doubt." *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 886.

In *Irby*, the Supreme Court reversed a murder conviction because several jurors had been dismissed by agreement of the lawyers and judge but without consulting the defendant. For the jurors excused in Irby's absence, "their alleged inability to serve was never tested by questioning in Irby's presence.... Had [those jurors] been subjected to questioning in Irby's presence the questioning might have revealed that one or more of these potential jurors were not prevented by reasons

of hardship from participating on Irby's jury." *Id*. Failing to let Mr. Irby participate in this part of jury selection was not harmless because the right to be present includes the right to personally test the fitness of the jurors. *Id*.

. .

:

Mr. Black had not waived his presence when the court had detailed conversations with numerous potential jurors whose ability to serve was not tested in Mr. Black's presence. *See Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 886. Two jurors dismissed in Mr. Black's absence had learned English as a second language. 10/22/13RP 79-82. The judge took both aside at the same time and said she was "concerned" that the parties would speak quickly. *Id.* at 79. The judge did not believe either juror was unqualified to serve due to language deficits, but rather that this trial might not be right for them. *Id.* at 82.⁵ Without finding either juror's English skills disqualified them from service, and rather than wait and see how the jurors handled jury selection or get Mr. Black's perspective, the court concluded, "it might be too hard" to serve on this case and dismissed them without giving Mr. Black the chance to observe them or inquire. *Id.* at 81-82. The court told both jurors to

⁵ A juror who is "not able to communicate in the English language" is not qualified to serve as a juror. RCW 2.36.070.

report to the administrator to see if there was another case on which they could serve. *Id.* at 82-83.

. .

:

Three other jurors were dismissed based on their feelings about the allegations and a fourth juror was dismissed the following day based in part on her remarks during the voir dire session conducted in Mr. Black's absence. 10/22/13RP 5-8, 26-32, 34-43, 77; 10/23/13RP 51-57. Other jurors gave detailed descriptions of their feelings toward the case during individual questioning, particularly Juror 48, who was not dismissed despite Mr. Black's attorney's cause challenge. 10/22/13RP 22, 49-50. Additional jurors were dismissed jurors due to scheduling concerns. 10/22/13RP 58, 61, 65-66, 68-69.

A significant and substantive portion of jury selection occurred in Mr. Black's absence even though his lawyers told the court he wanted to be present and refused to waive his presence. The fundamental purpose of a litigant's right to be present during jury selection is to allow him or her to give advice or suggestions to counsel or even to supersede counsel's decisions. Here, because Mr. Black was not brought to court for this portion of jury selection, he was unable to exercise that right.

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