NO. 71292-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

In re the Detention of

MARK BLACK.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE CAROL SCHAPIRA

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREA R. VITALICH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney Sexually Violent Predator Unit King County Administration Building 500 Fourth Avenue, 9th Floor Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

testimony. Furthermore, under the ICD-10 – the classification system promulgated by the World Health Organization, which is generally accepted and utilized worldwide – Black would simply be diagnosed as a pedophile. Black's appellate claim is without merit.

Courts use a two-part inquiry to determine whether scientific evidence is admissible. First, the evidence must meet the standard for general acceptance in the relevant scientific community under Fryev. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923). Second, the evidence must be helpful to the trier of fact under ER 702. Statev. Greene, 139 Wn.2d 64, 70, 984 P.2d 1024 (1999). A trial court's ruling under Frye is reviewed *de novo*, whereas a ruling under ER 702 is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id. A trial court abuses its discretion in deciding whether evidence is admissible only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or is based on untenable grounds. Statev. Enstone, 137 Wn.2d 675, 679-80, 974 P.2d 828 (1999).

In this case, the trial court granted Black's motion to exclude evidence regarding "hebephilia" under <u>Frye</u>, but allowed Dr. Arnold to testify regarding his diagnosis of paraphilia NOS, persistent sexual interest in pubescent-aged females. Contrary to what Black

now claims, Dr. Arnold's diagnosis of paraphilia NOS is not the same as "hebephilia," and the trial court's ruling was proper.

As a preliminary matter, the State does *not* concede that evidence regarding hebephilia should be excluded under the Frye standard. Indeed, the question of whether hebephilia is a generally-accepted psychiatric diagnosis remains an open question in Washington. See In re Detention of Meirhofer, ___ Wn.2d ___, 343 P.3d 731, 736-37 (2015). In this case, the State presented substantial evidence and case law in opposition to Black's motion to suppress under Frye, most of which flatly contradicts the claims of the defense's expert, Dr. Karen Franklin, that hebephilia is a novel psychological construct that has not been scientifically validated and that is not generally accepted. See CP 365-571 ("State's Response to Black's Motion for a Frye Hearing," with appendices). However, given that Dr. Arnold's diagnosis of paraphilia NOS is both more specific than hebephilia and plainly valid, it is not necessary for this Court to address the issue of whether hebephilia is a valid diagnosis or not.

What is critical to deciding the issue presented in this case is the distinction between what is described in the trial court record as "hebephilia," and what Dr. Arnold specifically meant by his diagnosis of "paraphilia not otherwise specified, persistent interest in pubescent-aged females, nonexclusive type." Although Black claims now, as he did in the trial court, that the two are exactly the same, the record demonstrates otherwise. Specifically, while "hebephilia" was described as sexual attraction to adolescents in general, Dr. Arnold's diagnosis is focused on Black's sexual preference for girls in the earliest stage of pubescence in particular.

The defense's proffered expert on "hebephilia," Dr. Karen Franklin, highlighted this distinction during her testimony.

Specifically, Dr. Franklin testified that although she did not believe that there was a consistent definition of "hebephilia" in the research or the literature, she believed that "it has something to do with sexual attraction or sexual activity or both with either adolescents, or in some cases defined only as female adolescents."

RP (9/13/13) 35. Based on that definition, Dr. Franklin opined that "hebephilia" was not a mental disorder at all because "it was considered normal for men to be attracted to adolescent females," and because in the past, "it was the norm for adult men, young adult men to marry younger – younger girls in the age range it's [sic] now being called a mental disorder – you know, 13, 15."

RP (9/13/13) 39-40.

Notably, Dr. Franklin readily acknowledged that the words "adolescent" and "pubescent" mean different things:

Q: Doctor, you use the word adolescent here as well as the word pubescent. Is that the same thing, or are those different?

A: Those are different. Adolescents [sic] is an age range that starts with puberty but goes up until, generally you would say, early 20s. It's not just a sexual developmental period; it's a time of maturation more generally in terms of, you know, goals in the world and mental functioning, thinking.

Q: And pubescent is, what, part of that?

A: Pubescent is a process of puberty. So it starts with, as we discussed, the Tanner Stage 2⁷ and goes on until puberty is complete.

RP (9/13/13) 75-76. And again, Dr. Franklin reiterated her opinion that men in general are attracted to adolescents:

The idea that men are sexually attracted to adolescents and young adolescents is well established – adult men in general. There's nothing abnormal or pathological about a certain level of attraction.⁸

RP (9/13/13) 93.

⁷ The "Tanner stage" system is widely used to describe the external physical changes that occur at different stages in the sexual development of humans from childhood to adulthood. See CP 1887-88.

⁸ In contrast to this testimony from Dr. Franklin, Dr. Arnold testified during his deposition that he had "diagnosed paraphilia NOS, sexually attracted to pubescent children . . . about four or five times out of the 560-plus cases" that he had worked on in a forensic capacity. CP 499. This contradicts Black's argument that so many men are attracted to girls in this stage of development that such attraction cannot be deemed a mental disorder.

Rather than a general sexual attraction to adolescents, however, Dr. Arnold described Black's admitted sexual preference for girls in the earliest stage of pubescence. More specifically, Dr. Arnold reported that "Mr. Black said he was more interested in early breast development more associated with a pubescent aged female than a prepubescent female." CP 425. Put another way, as Dr. Arnold explained in his deposition, "Mr. Black was quite open of [sic] telling me the thing he found attractive about these girls, was that they were just starting to bud. Their breasts were just starting to bud." CP 470-71. Dr. Arnold also reported Black's admission that "he enjoyed 'grooming' young girls because he found the attention from them exciting" and because they were "much easier to manipulate" than adult women. CP 407.

Dr. Arnold also explained in his deposition that there is a significant difference between a man who prefers adult women but who has some attraction to pubescent girls, and a man like Black who has a strong sexual preference for pubescent girls. CP 468. As he further explained, "it's an issue of the intensity of the attraction and what one does with the attraction that separates normative from pathological behavior." CP 468. This is borne out by Black's convictions and consequent prison sentences for sex

offenses committed against his 13-year-old stepdaughter in 1995-96, his fiancée's daughter's 13-year-old friend and 12-year-old friend in 2003, and the speed with which Black reoffended after being released from custody and having received sex offender treatment. CP 393-97. These factors and others that led Dr. Arnold to diagnose Black with paraphilia NOS are entirely consistent with the DSM criteria for a paraphilic disorder.

The current edition of the DSM, DSM-5, defines a paraphilia as "any intense and persistent sexual interest other than sexual interest in genital stimulation or preparatory fondling with phenotypically normal, physically mature, 9 consenting human partners." DSM-5, pg. 685. In turn, the DSM-5 defines a paraphilic disorder as "a paraphilia that is currently causing distress or impairment to the individual or a paraphilia whose satisfaction has entailed personal harm, or risk of harm, to others." Id. at pg. 685-86. The DSM-5 further distinguishes between a paraphilia and a paraphilic disorder by explaining that "[a] paraphilia is a necessary but not a sufficient condition for having a paraphilic disorder, and a

⁹ The DSM does not further define what is meant by "physically mature." However, girls who are just beginning to develop breasts, such as those Black prefers, plainly do not qualify as "physically mature."

paraphilia by itself does not necessarily justify or require clinical intervention." <u>Id.</u> at pg. 686.¹⁰

Unlike the more general term "hebephilia" – which, based on the record in this case, refers to general sexual attraction to adolescents – Black's specific preference for girls at the earliest stage of pubescence meets the DSM definitions of both a paraphilia and a paraphilic disorder. Black's preference meets the definition of a paraphilia because his sexual interest is directed towards girls whose breasts are beginning to bud -i.e., girls in Tanner Stage 2 (see CP 1888) – as opposed to "physically mature" females. Black's attraction is emotional as well as physical, because he finds these girls easier to manipulate than adult women and he enjoys grooming them for sexual contact. Furthermore, Black's preference meets the definition of a paraphilic disorder because his intense sexual interest in these girls causes distress and impairment in his relationships and in other aspects of his life, including the fact that it has resulted in his incarceration on multiple occasions, and his

¹⁰ The DSM-5 also recognizes that "comorbid diagnoses of separate paraphilic disorders may be warranted if more than one paraphilia is causing suffering to the individual or harm to others." <u>Id.</u> at pg. 686. Such is the case here, as Dr. Arnold diagnosed Black with sexual sadism (which is called "sexual sadism disorder" in the DSM-5) in addition to paraphilia NOS, persistent interest in pubescent females (which would be called "other specified paraphilic disorder, persistent interest in pubescent females" under the terms of the DSM-5).

behavior is harmful to his victims and their families. In sum, as the trial court found, Dr. Arnold's diagnosis is proper under the terms of the DSM.

Moreover, as the trial court also found in making its ruling, the DSM is not the only generally-accepted classification system that supports Dr. Arnold's diagnosis of Black's paraphilic disorder NOS. As the Washington Supreme Court has recognized, the DSM is "an evolving and imperfect document" and is not "sacrosanct."

In re Detention of Young, 122 Wn.2d 1, 28, 857 P.2d 989 (1993)

(quoting Alexander D. Brooks, *The Constitutionality and Morality of Civilly Committing Violent Sexual Predators*, 15 U. Puget Sound L. Rev. 709, 733 (1991-1992)). With that in mind, under the ICD-10, Black's paraphilic disorder fits squarely within the definition of "paedophilia," to wit: "A sexual preference for children, boys or girls or both, usually of prepubertal *or early pubertal* age." ICD-10, § F65.3. 11 In other words, in countries other than the United

¹¹ The ICD-10 is available online, and the definition of "paedophilia" may be found at: http://apps.who.int/classifications/icd10/browse/2015/en#/F60-F69 (last accessed 3/16/15).

States, ¹² Black's paraphilic disorder is simply called "paedophilia," *i.e.*, a sexual preference for children – a disorder whose existence and validity cannot seriously be questioned. Indeed, Dr. Franklin acknowledged during her testimony that the ICD-10 is generally accepted in the field of clinical psychology, and that the ICD-10 definition of a pedophile includes those who, like Black, prefer "early pubescent" children. RP (9/13/13) 124-25. This is sufficient in itself to demonstrate that Dr. Arnold's diagnosis of a paraphilic disorder based on Black's sexual preference for and pursuit of girls in the earliest stage of pubescence is generally accepted in the relevant scientific community. Indeed, it is sufficiently accepted worldwide that it is expressly included in the ICD-10.

In sum, the trial court correctly ruled that Dr. Arnold's diagnosis of paraphilia NOS, persistent sexual interest in pubescent-aged females, nonexclusive type was sufficiently accepted in the scientific community to be admissible under the

_

¹² According to the American Psychological Association, the ICD may supersede the DSM eventually: "There is little justification for maintaining the DSM as a separate diagnostic system from the ICD in the long run, particularly given the U.S. government's substantial engagement with WHO in the area of classification systems." *ICD vs. DSM*, Monitor on Psychology, Vol. 40, No. 9 (Oct. 2009), available at: http://www.apa.org/monitor/2009/10/icd-dsm.aspx (last accessed 3/16/15).

<u>Frye</u> standard, and that Dr. Arnold's testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact under ER 702. Accordingly, this Court should affirm.

Nonetheless, Black argues that the trial court further compounded its evidentiary error by excluding evidence from the defense regarding hebephilia, thus hampering Black's ability to challenge Dr. Arnold's paraphilia NOS diagnosis. This argument is also without merit, because the record shows that ample evidence was presented challenging Dr. Arnold's diagnosis, even if the word "hebephilia" was not used.

As a preliminary matter, when the State moved to exclude Dr. Franklin as a trial witness during motions *in limine* (on grounds that her testimony would be cumulative of Dr. Joseph Plaud's testimony and because she had not previously been disclosed as a potential trial witness), the defense indicated that they would call Dr. Franklin to testify in "rebuttal" only if Dr. Arnold testified about research and literature regarding hebephilia. The trial court noted that in light of that limitation, it was unlikely that Dr. Franklin would be needed as a witness. RP (9/26/13) 4, 38, 107-26. Dr. Arnold did not testify regarding research and literature regarding hebephilia. RP-V (10/28/13) 366-480; RP-VI (10/29/13) 488-637. Accordingly, as the defense stated on the record during pretrial

motions, there was no reason for the defense to call Dr. Franklin as a trial witness.

Furthermore, Dr. Arnold was cross-examined thoroughly about his paraphilia NOS diagnosis, and defense expert Dr. Joseph Plaud offered testimony criticizing the validity of that diagnosis. For example, Dr. Arnold conceded on cross examination that "it's not unusual for a man to find some level of attraction to a teen-aged person, even though they might prefer an older person." RP-VI (10/29/13) 513-14. Dr. Arnold also conceded that there was a "professional debate about whether attraction to pubescent-aged females is a 'clinical disorder.'" RP-VI (10/29/13) 520. He also agreed there was not a specific "research study" for his diagnosis of paraphilia NOS. RP-VI (10/29/13) 521. During the defense case, Dr. Plaud testified that Black's sexual attraction to pubescent females was not a paraphilia because "[m]en are attracted to pubescence." RP-IX (11/4/13) 946. Dr. Plaud also testified that although sexual contact with adolescents is illegal, it is not sexually

¹³ In support of his argument, Black notes that the State objected to this testimony as a violation of a "pretrial order." Appellant's Opening Brief, at 33. However, the objection was overruled. RP-VI (10/29/13) 520. Accordingly, the record does not reflect that Black was prevented from cross-examining Dr. Arnold about his diagnosis.

deviant. RP-IX (11/4/13) 947. In sum, Black's ability to challenge Dr. Arnold's diagnosis was not curtailed by the trial court's rulings.

Lastly, even if this Court were to conclude that the trial court erred in making its rulings regarding hebephilia, any such error is harmless. Evidentiary error is harmless if there is no reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different had the error not occurred. State v. Neal, 144 Wn.2d 600, 611, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001). When an expert in an SVP case would have reached the same conclusions without considering the evidence that is challenged on appeal, any error in admitting that evidence is harmless. See In re Detention of Coe, 160 Wn. App. 809, 836-37, 250 P.3d 1056 (2011), aff'd, 175 Wn.2d 482, 286 P.3d 29 (2012). Such is the case here.

In addition to paraphilia NOS, Dr. Arnold diagnosed Black with sexual sadism and personality disorder NOS with narcissistic and antisocial traits. CP 424. Black does not challenge either of these additional diagnoses on appeal. As will be discussed in more detail in the next argument section, Dr. Arnold testified that any one of these three diagnoses was sufficient in itself to cause Black serious difficulty in controlling his sexually violent behavior. RP-V (10/28/13) 445-46. Accordingly, even if the trial court erred in its

rulings regarding hebephilia, any such error is harmless and this Court should affirm.

3. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PROVED THAT BLACK HAS BOTH A MENTAL ABNORMALITY AND A PERSONALITY DISORDER; THEREFORE, JURY UNANIMITY WAS NOT REQUIRED.

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